IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

FREDDIE L. KNOX, ET AL.

VS.

RUSSELL MAHALITC



APPELLANTS

CASE NO. 2009-CA-01401

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS FREDDIE L. KNOX, ET AL.

Attorneys for Appellants:

Oby T. Rogers, Esq. Post Office Box 700 Collins, MS 39428 Telephone: 601.765.1000 Facsimile: 601.765.1008

Thomas S. Moore, pro hac vice

Mosro Law Group 3532 Vann Rd., Ste 106 Birmingham, AL 35235 Telephone: 205.314.2900 Facsimile: 888.701.5901

Eddie J. Abdeen, Esq. (MSB**Attorney at Law Post Office Box 2134 Madison, MS 39130-2134 Telephone: 601.898.7972 Facsimile: 601,427,0040

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

FREDDIE L. KNOX, ET AL.

APPELLANTS

VS.

CASE NO. 2009-CA-01401

RUSSELL MAHALITC

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS FREDDIE L. KNOX, ET AL.

Attorneys for Appellants:

Oby T. Rogers, Esq. (MSR Post Office Box 700 Collins, MS 39428 Telephone: 601.765.1000 Facsimile: 601.765.1008

Thomas S. Moore, pro hac vice

Moore Law Group 3532 Vann Rd., Ste 106 Birmingham, AL 35235 Telephone: 205.314.2900 Facsimile: 888.701.5901

Eddie J. Abdeen, Esq. (Matterney at Law Post Office Box 2134 Madison, MS 39130-2134 Telephone: 601.898.7972 Facsimile: 601.427.0040

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

FREDDIE L. KNOX, ET AL.

APPELLANTS

VS.

CASE NO. 2009-CA-01401

RUSSELL MAHALITC

APPELLEE

I. CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- Freddie L. Knox, individually, as the natural father and legal guardian of Kenyetta Knox, Jeremy Knox and Kishun Knox and as the administrator of the estates of Mary L. Knox and Lakidra Knox, Appellant;
- 2. Tyangela Knox, Appellant;
- Yolanda Knox, individually and as the administrator of the estate of Deliyah Watson,
 Appellant;
- 4. Walter Watson, Appellant
- 5. Natasha Knox, Appellant;
- 6. Frederick Knox, Appellant;
- 7. Markeya Knox, Appellant (all Appellants are sometimes hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Knox Appellants")
- 8. Oby Rogers, Thomas S. Moore, Attorneys for Appellants;
- 9. Russell Mahalitc, Appellee;
- 10. Bradley F. Hathaway, Attorney for Appellee Russell Mahalitc; and

11. Honorable Richard A. Smith, Washington County Circuit Court Judge

Oby T. Rogers, Esq. (MSB#5647)

Post Office Box 700 Collins, MS 39428

Telephone: 601.765.1000 Facsimile: 601.765.1008

Thomas S. Moore, *pro hac vice* (#ASB-4941-R67T) Moore Law Group

3532 Vann Rd., Ste 106

Birmingham, AL 35235 Telephone: 205.314.2900 Facsimile: 888.701.5901

Eddie J. Abdeen, Esq. (MSB #9321)

Attorney at Law

Post Office Box 2134

Madison, MS 39130-2134

Telephone: 601.898.7972 Facsimile: 601.427.0040

Page CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS i TABLE OF CONTENTS iii TABLE OF AUTHORITIES iv

II. TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.

III. TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases:

Brooks v. Roberts, 882 So. 2d 229 (Miss. 2004)
Canizaro v. Mobile Communications Corp. of America, 655 So. 2d 25(Miss. 1995) 12
Eguia v. Tompkins, 756 F. 2d 1130 (5th Cir. 1985)
Fonseca v. Sysco Food Services of Arizona, Inc., 374 F. 3d 840(9th Cir. 2004) 17
Hankins Lumber Co. v. Moore, 774 So. 2d 459 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000)
Rein v. Benchmark Construction Co., 865 So. 2d 1134 (Miss. 2004)
Scharf v. United States Atty. Gen., 597 F. 2d 1240 (9th Cir. 1979)
Stanton & Assoc., Inc. v. Bryant Construction Co., Inc.,464 So. 2d 499 (Miss. 1985) 17
Summers v. St. Andrews Episcopal School, Inc., 759 So. 2d 1203(Miss. 2000) 12
Todd v. First Baptist Church of West Point, 993 So. 2d 827 (Miss. 2008)
Treasure Bay Corp. v. Ricard, 967 So. 2d 1235 (Miss. 2007)
STATE STATUTES
Miss. Code Ann. s 13-3-55
Miss. Code Ann. s 63-7-7
Miss. Code Ann. s 63-7-27

IV. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE(S)

- Whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Russell
 Mahalite on ALL of the claims of the Knox Appellants.
- 2. Whether, under Mississippi law, Russell Mahalitc, the owner of a tractor-trailer that had been loaned to a third party at the time of the subject motor vehicle accident, had a duty to the Knox Appellants to properly equip and/or maintain the subject tractor-trailer with the statutorily required lamps and/or lighting and other safety devices.
- 3. Whether the Knox Appellants submitted sufficient summary judgment materials and/or evidence to demonstrate a jury question exists in relation to whether Russell Mahalite, as owner of the subject tractor-trailer, breached the duty to properly equip and/or maintain the subject tractor-trailer with the statutorily required lamps and/or lighting and other safety devices.
- 4. Whether a jury question exists on the issues of proximate cause and damages in relation to the Knox Appellants negligence claim against Russell Mahalitic, as owner of the subject tractor-trailer, for the negligent failure to properly equip and/or maintain the subject tractor-trailer with the statutorily required lamps and/or lighting and other safety devices.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE/OPERATIVE FACTS

A. <u>Background/Procedural History.</u>

The claims of the Knox Appellants are straightforward and arise out of a motor vehicle accident that occurred on October 7, 2006 on Highway 16 in Issaquena County, Mississippi.

Specifically, a collision occurred between a vehicle being driven by Yolanda Knox and a tractor-trailer being driven by Defendant David McCoy, the trailer portion of which was partially extended into Yolanda Knox's lane of traffic and was the point of impact between the two vehicles. The collision resulted in the deaths of three members of the Knox family, as well as physical injuries to one or more of the Knox Appellants. Russell Mahalite does not dispute these core facts although his characterization of the accident is that Yolanda Knox's vehicle collided into the rear of the tractor -trailer as McCoy was turning off of the highway. (R.176 – Russell Mahalite's Memorandum Brief in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment).

The following background/procedural facts have bearing on and/or are pertinent to the issues raised in this appeal:

1. On or about March 4, 2008, the Knox Appellants filed their complaint in this action

in the Washington County, Mississippi Circuit Court. (R.14 and R.1-15). Based upon the information contained in the accident report related to the subject collision, the Knox Appellants named David McCoy, Russell Mahalitc d/b/a Magnolia Plantation ("Mahalitc") and, pursuant to *M.R.C.P.* 9(h), certain "John Does" as defendants. (R.1-15 – Knox Appellants' Complaint). Specifically, the accident report listed McCoy as the driver of the tractor-trailer and Mahalitc as the owner thereof. (R.Vol.5 – Hearing Transcript at pp. 2-3 – Mahalitc's counsel acknowledging

Plaintiff's initially alleged that Mahalitc not only owned the subject tractor-trailer but that he was also the employer of McCoy and, as a result, sought to impose liability upon Mahalitc under the legal principle of *respondeat superior*. However, because, as the facts in this case demonstrate, the owner of a tractor-trailer can turn out not to be the driver's employer, the Knox Appellants also named the employer of McCoy as a John Doe Defendant pursuant to *M.R.C.P.* 9(h). (R.3-6 – Knox Appellants' Complaint at paras. 8-10).

the contents of the subject accident report).

- 2. On March 27, 2008, McCoy and Mahalitc filed separate answers and defenses in which they both denied that Mahalitc was McCoy's employer. (R.25-45)².
 - On December 9, 2008, Mahalite filed a Motion for Summary Judgment asserting that

while Mahalitc/Magnolia Plantation³ (collectively sometimes herein after referred to as "Mahalitc") was the owner of the subject tractor-trailer, Mahalitc was not the employer of McCoy

² While the Knox Appellants acknowledge their appeal is limited to what is "in the record", after both McCoy and Mahalitc both denied Mahalitc was McCoy's employer, the Knox Appellants sent out written discovery directed towards the issue of the identity of McCoy's employer. Based upon the responses of McCoy and Mahalite to the written discovery of the Knox Appellants, the Knox Appellants amended their complaint substituting, pursuant to M.R.C.P. 9(h) and 15, George Mahalitc d/b/a GM Farms as McCoy's employer. (R. Supplemental Vol. 1 at pp. 65-68 – trial court's order granting the Knox Appellants' Motion to Amend Complaint). The Knox Appellants have, for the first time, recently learned, through the Motion to Dismiss the Knox Appellants' Amended Complaint filed by George Mahalitc, that GM Farms is actually a Mississippi Partnership. Depending on the trial court's ruling on the dismissal motion of George Mahalitc (based on statute of limitations grounds and contesting the propriety of the Knox Appellants' substitution of him as a fictitious party), the Knox Appellants' claims against George Mahalitc are also likely to be the subject of an appeal in this Court.

While the Knox Appellants named as a defendant in their original complaint, "Russell Mahalite d/b/a Magnolia Plantation, Magnolia Plantation has ultimately been determined to be a Mississippi Partnership and not a sole proprietorship of Russell Mahalite. However, since it is undisputed by Russell Mahalite that he is a partner of Magnolia Plantation (R.168-169 – Affidavit of Russell Mahalite admitting he is a partner of Magnolia Plantation in para. 1), he is liable for the claims of the Knox Appellants arising solely out of the ownership of the tractor-trailer, as discussed herein. A partnership such as Magnolia Plantation, may be sued in the partnership name, or in the names of the individuals composing the partnership, or both and service of process on any partner shall be sufficient to maintain the suit against all the partners so as to bind the assets of the partnership and of the individual summoned. Miss. Code Ann. § 13-3-55 (1972, as amended)(emphasis added); See Miss. Code Ann. § 79-13-306(a)(" partners are liable jointly and severally for all obligations of the partnership").

and, therefore, could not be liable for the negligent operation of the tractor-trailer by McCoy. (R.175-181-Mahalite's Memorandum Brief in Support of Summary Judgment at, *inter alia*, pp. 1-3)⁴.

4. On or about March 5, 2009, the Knox Appellants filed their response in opposition

to Mahalite's summary judgment motion. (R.191-200). Attached thereto as Exhibits "1", "2" and "3", were three colored photographs⁵ depicting the tractor-trailer in the same condition it was in

As will be discussed in greater detail herein, there can be no legitimate dispute that Mahalitc's summary judgment motion was directed towards the point that Mahalitc was not the employer of McCoy, and therefore Mahalitc could not be held liable under the legal principle of respondeat superior for the negligence of McCoy. Such point was clearly and unambiguously conceded and/or confessed by counsel for the Knox Appellants at the summary judgment hearing. However, Mahalitc, in his rebuttal argument at the hearing, asserted the Mahalitc summary judgment motion was directed towards all of the claims of the Knox Appellants. Incredibly, the trial court bought into the Mahalitc rebuttal argument and granted summary judgment in favor of Mahalitc not only on the claims based upon respondeat superior but also the asserted claims based upon Mahalitc's ownership of the subject tractor-trailer (related to the lack of statutorily required lamps and/or lighting on the trailer) DESPITE Mahalitc offering NO EVIDENCE on the issue of proximate cause and/or any other element of such claims.

⁵ The quality of the copies of the photographs in the record are such that the Court will not be able to determine what is depicted in the photographs. Pursuant to M.R.A.P. 10(b)(5), the Knox Appellants sought to have the trial court "correct" the record by, among other things, allowing "viewable" copies of the SAME photographs submitted to the trial court to be included in the record. (R. Supplemental Vol. 1 at pp. 1-2). Mahalitc objected to the Knox Appellants efforts to address the photograph quality issue and the trial court denied the request of the Knox Appellants to substitute "viewable" copies of the photographs into the record. (R. Supplemental Vol. 1 at pp. 13-14). However, since Mahalitc and the trial court had clear copies of the subject photographs at the summary judgment hearing, the Knox Appellants respectfully assert the trial court erred in denying the Knox Appellants' M.R.A.P. 10 request to correct the record and they will be taking the photograph issue up with this Court through a motion filed pursuant to M.R.A.P. 10(e). (R. Vol. 5 – Hearing transcript at pp. 7, 18 and 33 [Counsel for Mahalite acknowledging Exhibits "1"-"3" to the Knox Appellants' Response to Summary Judgment were COLORED PHOTOGRAPHS:

at the time of the subject collision and clearly depicting that the subject trailer did not have the statutorily required lamps and/or lighting and related safety devices. (R.198-200). As set forth in footnote five hereto, Mahalite and the trial court had clear copies of the subject photographs at the summary judgment hearing. (R. Vol. 5 – Hearing transcript at pp. 7, 18 and 33 [Counsel for Mahalite acknowledging Exhibits "1"-"3" to the Knox Appellants' Response to Summary Judgment were COLORED PHOTOGRAPHS, the trial court, during oral argument, being referred to the Exhibit "2" photograph of the tractor-trailer with no issue being raised by the trial court about being able to see what the photograph depicted and directing counsel for the Knox Appellants not to forget the photographs provided to the trial court during oral argument, respectively). However, despite such fact and the photographs contained in the record prepared by the clerk being of such poor quality that this Court will be unable to determine what is depicted in the photographs, Mahalitc objected to and the trial court denied the Knox Appellants' request, pursuant to M.R.A.P. 10, to correct the record by including the SAME three high quality colored photographs Mahalite and the trial court had in front of them at the hearing on Mahalite's summary judgment motion.(R. Supplemental Vol. 1 at pp. 13-14). Such a set of circumstances CANNOT be allowed to stand in this Court and, as set forth herein, the Knox Appellants will be filing a M.R.A.P. 10 motion to address the photograph quality issue since the trial court denied the Knox Appellants' requested M.R.A.P. 10 relief related thereto.

5. On March 9, 2009 the parties argued the summary judgment motion of Mahalitc before the trial court. (R. Vol. 5).

trial court being referred to the Exhibit "2" photograph of the tractor-trailer with no issue being raised by the trial court about being able to see what the photograph depicted; and directing counsel for the Knox Appellants not to forget the colored photographs provided to the trial court during oral argument, respectively]).

- 6. On March 26, 2009, the trial court granted Mahalite's summary judgment motion dismissing, as a matter of law, ALL of the claims of the Knox Appellants against Mahalite. (R.219-222).
 - 7. On April 6, 2009, the Knox Appellants, pursuant to M.R.C.P. 59(e), filed a Motion

to Alter and/or Amend the Order Granting Mahalite's Summary Judgment Motion. (R.223-234). While the Knox Appellants improperly included an excerpt of the deposition of Yolanda Knox as part of their *Rule* 59 Motion (because the deposition was previously available at the original hearing on Mahalite's Summary Judgment Motion), as will be demonstrated herein, the Knox Appellants' *Rule* 59 Motion was still proper because the trial court made a clear error of law in dismissing the claims of the Knox Appellants related to Mahalite's ownership of the subject trailer and Mahalite's failure, as owner, to properly equip and/or maintain the trailer with the statutorily required lamps and/or lighting and related safety devices. *See Brooks v. Roberts*, 882 So. 2d 229, 233 (Miss. 2004)(three grounds for *Rule* 59(e) motion are "(i)an intervening change in controlling law; (ii) availability of new evidence not previously available; and (iii) need to correct a clear error of law or to prevent manifest injustice.").

- 8. April 17, 2009, Mahalitc filed a response in opposition to the Knox Appellants' *Rule*
- 59 Motion. (R.235-244).
 - 9. On June 1, 2009, the parties argued the *Rule* 59 Motion of the Knox Appellants (R.

Vol. 5).

- 10. On July 16, 2009, the trial court denied the Knox Appellants' *Rule* 59 Motion. (R.309-317).
 - 11. Thereafter, the Knox Appellants timely perfected their appeal to this Court. (R.261).
 - B. Facts and Claims Pled in the Complaint.
 - (1) Claims in the Knox Appellants' Complaint.

The Knox Appellants' Complaint asserted that Mahalite was the employer of McCoy and that McCoy and Mahalite, under *respondeat superior* grounds, wrongfully and negligently operated the "commercial vehicle" that was involved in the occurrence made the basis of the Plaintiffs's claims (R.1-15 – Knox Appellants' Complaint paras. 9, 12 and 13). However, the Knox Appellants also included claims against Mahalite, as owner of the subject tractor-trailer, for wrongfully and/or negligently maintaining, equipping and/or inspecting the "commercial vehicle" in violation of, among other things, Mississippi law.(R.1-15 – Knox Appellants' Complaint para. 12).

- (2) Hearing on Mahaltic's Summary Judgment Motion.
- (a) The Knox Appellants Confessed Their Claims Based Upon the Allegation that McCoy was the Employee of Mahalitc.

As set forth herein, the basis for Mahalite's Summary Judgment Motion was that Mahalite was merely the owner of the tractor-trailer being driven by McCoy at the time of the collision, that McCoy was not an employee of Mahalite and that at the time of the collision, Mahalite had loaned the tractor-trailer to GM Farms, who was the employer of McCoy. (R.Vol. 5—Hearing Transcript at pp. 3 and 14; R.175-181-Mahalite's Memorandum Brief in Support of Summary Judgment at, *inter alia*, pp. 1-3). Mahalite then made a big production at the hearing

on the summary judgment motion that the Knox Appellants had failed to meet their burden under *M.R.C.P.* 56(e) of responding to the affidavit of Mahalite (which stated, among other things, McCoy was the employee of Mahalite), etc. with their own "affidavits" and/or other proper summary judgment evidence demonstrating a fact question existed on the issue of whether McCoy was employed by Mahalite at the time of the collision.(R.Vol. 5 – Hearing Transcript at p. 15).

After Mahalitc's counsel made the point that no fact question existed on the issue of Mahalitc being the employer of McCoy, counsel for the Knox Appellants readily conceded such point and informed the trial court that the Knox Appellants had no objection to the dismissal of the claims of the Knox Appellants that were based upon the allegation that McCoy was the employee of Mahalitc (i.e. the allegations that sought to impose liability upon Mahalitc under the legal principle of *respondeat superior*). (R.Vol. 5 – Hearing Transcript at p. 16 – lines 10-14). There is no legitimate issue related to this aspect of Mahalitc's summary judgment motion but it is important for this Court to have a full understanding of what transpired at the subject hearing so the error made by the trial court in dismissing ALL of the claims of the Knox Appellants against Mahalitc can be corrected, through reversal and/or otherwise.

(b) The Knox Appellants' Claims Against Mahalite Based Upon Mahalite's Ownership of the Subject Tractor-Trailer and Failing to Equip and/or Maintain the Trailer with the Statutorily Required Lamps and/or Lighting and Related Safety Devices.

At the hearing on the Mahalitc summary judgment motion, counsel for the Knox Appellants pointed out that Mahalitc's summary judgment motion only addressed the issue of McCoy not being the employee of Mahalitc and was therefore, in reality, on a motion for partial summary judgment. (R.Vol. 5 – Hearing Transcript at p. 15). Neither Mahalitc's motion nor

memorandum brief addressed the Knox Appellants' negligence claim based upon Mahalitc's ownership of the subject tractor-trailer and the corresponding failure of duty to equip and/or maintain the subject trailer with the statutorily required lamps and/or lights and related safety devices and Mahalitc submitted no summary judgment evidence on these claims with a view towards obtaining dismissal of such claims as a matter of law. (R.Vol. 5 – Hearing Transcript at pp. 15-16). Despite Mahalitc's motion and brief making no arguments in relation to the Knox Appellants' negligent failure to equip and/or maintain the subject trailer claim (and Mahalitc offering NO EVIDENCE in support of dismissal of such claim), counsel for Mahalitc asserted that Mahalitc's summary judgment motion sought dismissal of ALL of the Knox Appellants' claims against Mahalitc. (R.Vol. 5 – Hearing Transcript at p. 17 – lines 25-26).

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