IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI Case No. 2009-CA-01401

FREDDIE L. KNOX, et al.

APPELLANTS

V.

RUSSELL MAHALITC, et al.

APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Washington County, Mississippi; Cause No. 2008-0055-CI

PRINCIPAL BRIEF OF APPELLEE RUSSELL MAHALITC (Oral Argument Not Requested)

Bradley F. Hathaway, MSB No. Campbell DeLong, LLP 923 Washington Avenue (38701) P.O. Box 1856 Greenville, Mississippi 38702-1856 Telephone: (662) 335-6011 Facsimile: (662) 334-6407

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

As much as anything else, at stake on this appeal is the authority of Rule 56 and the upholding of trial courts which properly adhere to the rule of law.

The comment to Rule 56 instructs that the rule "provides the means by which a party may pierce the allegations in the pleadings" and should "operate to prevent the system of extremely simple pleadings from shielding claimants without real claims." MISS. R. CIV. PROC. 56, cmt. The rule "serves as an instrument of discovery in calling forth quickly the disclosure of the merits of . . . a claim . . . on pain of loss of the case for failure to do so." *Id*.

Here, after discovery demonstrated the absence of a triable issue on the Knox Plaintiffs' claims against Mahalitc, he utilized Rule 56 for the purpose for which the drafters intended. By employing this mechanism, Mahalitc placed the Knox Plaintiffs in a position of having to convince the trial court with depositions, answers to interrogatories, admissions and/or sworn affidavits that there were genuine issues of material fact which required resolution by a trial before a jury. *A fortiori*, Mahalitc sought to root out mere accusation in favor of merit and he carried his burden. The Knox Plaintiffs did not.

Regardless of the various characterizations given by the Knox Plaintiffs to their claims against Mahalitc, the facts showing that Mahalitc merely held title to the vehicle McCoy was driving at the time of the accident and that he had no control over McCoy or the truck went factually unchallenged.

On appeal, the Knox Plaintiffs tacitly concede this point by attempting to create error with references to information and so-called evidence which is either outside the record, unverified, mere assertion or all of the above.

On that premise, the Knox Plaintiffs seek to reverse the dismissal of their claims against Mahaltic by asking this Court to stack inference upon inference and draw presumptions, which is legal heresy. At the same time, the Knox Plaintiffs protest that it was Mahalitc who failed to come forward with evidence, representing a gross misapprehension of who properly bears that burden – namely, the Knox Plaintiffs. Regardless, the record, including the well-reasoned written, opinions of the trial court, eviscerate such contentions.

The record in this case portrays a trial judge who carefully and methodically considered all matters properly presented to the court and then followed the rule of

law. No less should be expected but no more can be done. In United Services Auto Association v. Stewart, the Mississippi Supreme Court noted the critical need to adhere to accepted rules of law "so that trial courts can make correct decisions [.]" 919 So. 2d 24 (¶ 21) (Miss. 2005).

Respectfully, the rulings of the trial court in this matter demand, on the merits, the affirmation of this Court.

ARGUMENT

A. The Differing Standards of Review - Rules 56 and 59

It is often mere formality for parties to include a statement of the standard of review for the appeal of any given issue. Here, such treatment of the applicable standards is inadequate.

The Knox Plaintiffs appeal from two rulings of the trial court – the first being a grant of summary judgment under Rule 56 and the second being a denial of a Rule 59 motion. The standards of review are different for each.

1. <u>Rule 56</u>

In Angle v. Kopper, Inc., the Mississippi Supreme Court recently enunciated the

standard of review applicable to the grant of a Rule 56 motion:

This Court conducts a *de novo* review of orders granting or denying summary judgment and looks at all the evidentiary matters before it – admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc." The moving party "bears the burden of persuading the trial judge that: (1) no genuine issue of material fact exists, and (2) on the basis of the facts established, he is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." However, the movant bears the burden of production if, at trial, he would have the burden of proof on that issue. Furthermore, the nonmoving party cannot survive a motion for summary judgment by relying on a "[m]ere allegation or denial of material fact." In other words, "the plaintiff may not rely solely upon unsworn al legations in the pleadings, or 'arguments and assertions in briefs or legal memoranda.""

--- So.3d ----, 2010 WL 2106043 (May 27, 2010) at ¶6 (internal citations omitted).

2. <u>Rule 59</u>

The standard of review applicable to the denial of the Knox Plaintiffs' motion to alter or amend the trial court's judgment is abuse of discretion. *Brooks v. Roberts*, 882 So. 2d 229 (¶15) (Miss. 2004). Under this standard, the appellate court must affirm "unless there is a definite and firm conviction that the court below committed a clear error of judgment in the conclusion it reached upon weighing of relevant factors." *Peters v. State*, 971 So. 2d 1289 (¶3) (Miss. App. 2008). The factors relevant to a Rule 59(e) motion are whether the movant has shown: (i) an intervening change in controlling law, (ii) the availability of new evidence not previously available, or (iii) the need to correct a clear error of law or to prevent manifest injustice. *Brooks*, 882 So. 2d at ¶15.

When viewed under these pronouncements, the rulings of the trial court call for affirmation.

B. Summary Judgment was Proper on all Claims of the Knox Plaintiffs

The Knox Plaintiffs labor under the misapprehension that it was improper for the trial court to grant complete summary judgment on their claims and that, instead, summary judgment should only have been granted on the plaintiffs' *respondeat superior* claims. Further to this point, the Knox Plaintiffs suggest that their complaint "also included claims against Mahalitc, *as the owner of the subject tractor-trailer*, for wrongfully and/or negligently maintaining, equipping and/or inspecting the [truck] in violation of, among other things, Mississippi law." Out of the litany of conclusory allegations in their complaint, this is the only allegation which the Knox Plaintiffs contend should have survived summary judgment. The Knox Plaintiffs' argument on this account is unavailing.

Foremost, the only *factual* basis set forth by the plaintiffs as establishing liability against Mahalitc was that he "was the employer of McCoy on the occasion of the incident made the basis of this lawsuit" (¶9). The Knox Plaintiffs specifically incorporated this allegation by reference as the basis for each of their claims. The first paragraphs of Count One, Count Two and Count Three of the complaint are identical, with each stating: **"Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference the foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully herein**."

Rule 10(c) of the *Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure* uniquely permits this sort of adoption by reference pleading "where a factual averment has bearing in subsequent allegations of a pleading." MISS. R. CIV. PROC. 10(c), cmt. No legitimate disagreement can be taken with the fact that the Knox Plaintiffs utilized Rule 10(c) to adopt by reference the allegation that Mahalitc had an agency relationship with McCoy and thus was liable for the other conclusory allegations contained within the complaint. The complaint in the record speaks for itself on this point. (C.P. 1-15).

Of course, the Knox Plaintiffs now concede, as they must, that the undisputed material facts demonstrated that Mahalitc held title to the truck but that it was on loan to GM Farms; however, their complaint does not set forth those allegations. Instead, even after discovering (while the case was still in its infancy) that Mahalitc

merely held title to the truck, the Knox Plaintiffs deliberately pursued an agency theory of liability, contesting summary judgment on the ground that Mahalitc was McCoy's statutory employer, contending that, under this legal principle, the trial court should find that Mahalitc retained "exclusive possession and control of the truck" and that Mahalitc had "full responsibility to control [the truck] and [McCoy]." (C.P. 195).

It is "well-settled law in Mississippi that plaintiffs are bound by what is alleged in the complaint, absent a subsequent amendment or modification." *Powell v. Clay County Bd. of Supervisors*, 924 So.2d 523 (¶ 11) (Miss.2006). "[E]ven under the liberal pleading requirements of Rule 8(a) [of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure], a plaintiff must set forth factual allegations, either direct or inferential, respecting each material element necessary to sustain recovery under some actionable legal theory." Penn Nat'l Gaming, Inc. v. Ratliff, 954 So.2d 427 (¶ 11) (Miss.2007) (quoting United States ex rel. Karvelas v. Melrose-Wakefield Hosp., 360 F.3d 220, 240 (1st Cir. 2004)) (emphasis supplied). Thus, the plaintiffs, as masters of their complaint, cannot stand to be heard on claims that were not pled or on wrongfully pled claims that were not amended.

The matter does not end there. Even assuming the allegations of the complaint included theories of liability based on Mahalitc's holding title to the truck, that benefits the Knox Plaintiffs nothing. Under Mississippi law, a person is liable for injuries resulting from a motor vehicle accident only if he actually operates or controls the motor vehicle, or is master or principal of the person who was operating the vehicle. See West Brothers, Inc. v. Herrington, 139 So. 2d 842 (Miss. 1962). Ownership of the

vehicle is irrelevant – the key issue is control of the vehicle. *Id.* As such, the claim that Mahalitc's potential liability stems from his ownership of the truck was not a sufficient factual basis to survive summary judgment.

For their part, the Knox Plaintiffs insist that Mahalitc, as the title holder, owed and breached certain statutory duties "to equip and/or maintain the trailer with the proper lamps and/or lights and related safety devices." They claim that such duty and breach of duty is demonstrated by three photographs attached to the plaintiffs' response in opposition to summary judgment. Their argument goes: see, look at these pictures, end of story. The Knox Plaintiffs submit that, on the sheer strength of the photographs, the case is reduced to nothing more than a jury question on the issue of causation, notwithstanding any of the uncontested facts offered at the summary judgment stage. This, too, falls short of the mark.

When making their argument of a statutory breach, the Knox Plaintiffs fail to acknowledge the uncontested evidence showing that Mahalitc was not in control of the tractor-trailer, its use, or its method of use and that merely holding title is insufficient to impress him with liability. The Knox Plaintiffs take those facts and, without citation to authority, conveniently claim that such facts are only relevant to a *respondeat superior* claim. This is an inaccurate and self-serving application. Under the principles enunciated in *West Brothers, Inc. v. Herrington, supra,* control of the vehicle (or the driver) is the touchstone of liability *vel non* against Mahalitc and the record is bankrupt of any evidence disputing this issue.⁷ Accordingly, Mahalitc moved

ł

⁷ The undersigned has reason to believe that the Knox Plaintiffs may, in their reply brief, cite the recent Mississippi Supreme Court decision in Utz v. Running & Rolling

for summary judgment on *all* claims and for *all* relief asked for in the complaint – not just *respondeat superior* claims. (C.P. 70-72).

From the record, we find the Knox Plaintiffs arguing against summary judgment with the allegation that Mahalitc "was the defendant who placed a truck/trailer unit on the roads of Mississippi that was negligently inspected, equipped and maintained." But, the facts – supported by Rule 56 evidence – demonstrated otherwise. There is no error to be found in the ruling of the trial court.

If the Knox Plaintiffs are suggesting that they are now attempting to make some sort of negligent entrustment claim on account of Mahalitc's loaning the truck to GM Farms, they do not say that nor does the record show where they set out any such factual allegations, much less came forward with any Rule 56 proof respecting each material element of such a claim. See Savage v. LaGrange, 815 So. 2d 485 (¶¶18-19) (Miss. App. 2002) (reviewing elements of negligent entrustment). Regardless, Mississippi case law holds that "the most critical consideration in a claim for negligent entrustment is the issue of right of control," (*id.*) which Mahalitc did not have and which is the likely explanation for why the Knox Plaintiffs made no such claim against Mahalitc in the first instance. No – the plaintiffs deliberately pursued an agency theory against Mahalitc. After learning of Mahalitc's true role in the matter, the

Trucking, Inc., 32 So. 3d 450 (Miss. 2010), for the proposition that where a motor carrier violated certain Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations, it was for the jury to decide whether such violations were the proximate cause of the accident at issue in that case. In Utz, not only had the violations of the FMCSR been properly established through competent evidence, but the violator controlled the truck and employed the driver of the truck at the time of the accident. Id. at ¶¶1-2. Control of the truck or the driver was not an issue. Suffice it to say, Utz is a horse of a different color.

plaintiffs attempted to morph the allegations of their complaint into a "statutory employer" claim – which they then abandoned for reasons having "to do a little bit with insurance."⁸ As pointed out by Mahalitc to the trial court, the fact that a party has insurance should play no role in our system of justice.

Circling back, then, to the photographs of the tractor-trailer, the Knox Plaintiffs would have this Court stack inference upon inference that these create some sort of negligence in the air with respect to Mahalitc. This defies Rule 56 and is more of the same sort of mischief that was rejected when the trial court properly adhered to the rule of law in finding that the photographs were not supported by a Rule 56(e) affidavit and, besides, did not constitute probative evidence on viable claims against Mahalitc. Apart from the fact that the photographs proved nothing with respect to the issue of who controlled the truck, their relevance as to any party in the case would wholly depend upon facts not in the record. But, no form of testimony was offered with the photographs which supported plaintiffs' counsel's assertions that they allegedly show certain defects (notwithstanding that the photos themselves called these assertions into question); no form of testimony was offered which supported plaintiffs' counsel's assertion that they depict the tractor-trailer in its condition on the day of the accident: no form of testimony was offered to show that they bore any rationale relationship to a viable claim against Mahalitc. Even now, the Knox Plaintiffs concede that the photographs, if relevant at all to any claim against any party, are not sufficient to

⁸ This is a perfect example of how the plaintiffs' characterization of their claims against Mahalitc was a moving target which varied from proceeding to proceeding as it suited them.

create a triable issue on their own but depend on certain evidence that is not supported by the record (e.g., testimony from expert and fact witnesses). Yet, the Knox Plaintiffs ask this Court to draw certain outside the record inferences from the photographs and to make certain presumptions about them, but it is not within the province of this Court to indulge the plaintiffs with such presumptions. See Almond v. Flying J Gas Co., 957 So.2d 437 (¶10) (May 2007) (rejecting efforts to defeat summary judgment by stacking inferences and making presumptions).

Further to this point, the Knox Plaintiffs argue that there are certain items of evidence which they "will present to the jury" along with the photographs such as: (1) that, at the time of the collision, the sun did not affect the vision of Yolanda Knox⁹; (2) that Yolanda did not see the trailer in her lane of travel until right before the collision occurred; and (3) that, while Yolanda attempted to make a defensive driving maneuver to avoid the impact, she had insufficient time to do so under the circumstances that existed at the time of the collision. *Plaintiffs' Principal Brief*, p. 16-17.

This is high-order appellate alchemy which cannot be tolerated. It takes no special measure of analysis to determine that these assertions are completely unsupported by the record, and it is old hat that this Court "may not consider information outside the record." *Hardy v. Brock*, 826 So.2d 71, 76 (¶ 26) (Miss.2002). Appellate courts are confined to those matters actually appearing in the record from the trial court. *See* M.R.A.P. 10(f).

Moreover, the Knox Plaintiffs presented none of this so-called evidence which

⁹ Parenthetically, it bears noting that this assertion stands at odds with plaintiffs' counsel's assertion at the summary judgment hearing that the sun was in Yolanda's eyes.

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